The River Murray region of South Australia – a short history
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Born on the snowclad heights of Kosciusko, cradled in rich glens, and fed by tributaries that rise in four States, the Murray moves leisurely and majestically to the sea. The river is one of the longest in the dominions of King Edward, with a watershed that has few rivals. To know Australia, to appreciate its magnificent resources, it is necessary to understand how the Murray and its sister streams can be made to serve the producer and the trader .., as bearers of burdens as well as .., aids to production, and Australians will shortly enter upon the glorious inheritance represented in the Murray and its tributaries.

The River Murray is Australia's most important river. Draining one seventh of the country it passes through the three historically most populous and productive States, Victoria, New South Wales and South Australia. Since colonisation, the history of large hinterland regions of these States is that of their changing uses of this accommodating river. The Murray-Darling basin also supported large Aboriginal populations for many thousands of years, and was ‘a cradle of ancient Australian cultural development.’

The Murray, ‘a cool, shining waterway that cuts a desert in two’, is an exotic. Like the Nile (with which it has been frequently compared) its source lies in a mountainous high rainfall country while for most of its length the surrounding land is dry, in parts, near-desert.

By the time South Australia is reached, the Murray is a river in its mature stages, forming a wide and often densely vegetated valley in an arid landscape. The river’s character changes relatively little in South Australia, despite an abrupt swing southwards from its original westerly course (at North West Bend or the Elbow as it was once called). Its fall is slight, less than 22 metres over the 642 kilometres between the border and the sea, but the closer the coast is approached the higher the rainfall and this and the proximity of the coast more than any changes in the river valley itself has meant that the history of the lower Murray lands has in some respects differed markedly from that of the central and upper Murray.

Captain Charles Sturt and seven men took a whaleboat down this ‘newly discovered’ river in 1830 and found at its end neither ocean nor inland sea but a lake nearly as vast, which was named Alexandrina (its consort, Lake Albert, was not discovered until 1839). Beyond was the sea and the shifting and treacherous Murray Mouth.

This lakes country, all sky and water and flat grassland and the lower Murray have a history of European occupation which predates by many years settlement upriver, although after Sturt and the establishment of South Australia, huge station runs soon extended the entire length of river and lakeside.

Pastoralism was the original stimulus for settlement and the basis for much of the subsequent river boat trade. Later, agriculture, mostly wheat growing, brought about closer settlement in parts of the riverlands region below Morgan, but it remained for the massive irrigation and swamp reclamation schemes of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries to bring about the most intensive form of land-use throughout the region, and the closer settlement of the upper Murray, with the rise of a series of prosperous and substantial new towns.

This sequence of development has resulted in a surviving heritage which differs markedly from one part of the Murray to another. For example, Wellington, situated at an important river crossing on the lower Murray for overlanded stock, and for traffic to the South East, has heritage items dating from as early as the 18.40s and 1850s.

Goolwa, which was the major river port for the ‘bottom end’ of the Murray-Darling trade, enjoyed a burst of development from the 1850s to the 1880s, so that many significant heritage items date from the 1850s and 1860s.

By contrast, at Renmark, which was established on the upper Murray as Australia's first irrigation colony in 1887, the earliest and the most significant heritage items date mainly from the 1890s and early twentieth century.

Most of the great engineering works which have altered both the nature of the Murray and that of its surrounding country have been carried out during the twentieth century. The significant heritage of the Murray riverlands thus spans at least 120 years, from 1830 to the 1950s, with the river providing the common link between districts and towns which experienced development, decline or stasis at varying periods throughout that time.

These historical periods, linked to the changing uses of the river (pastoralism, trade, irrigation and so on) can be set down as follows:

1. 1830-1852: the river as a route to the unknown.

2. 1853-1880: the river as highway to the interior.

3. 1881-1905: the river as conqueror of the desert.

4. 1906-1940: the river as permanent waterway.

5. 1941-present: the river as life-line for the State. 
The historical summary which follows is divided accordingly.

1830-1852: the river as a route to the unknown

Where I shall wander to God only knows. I have little doubt, however, that I shall ultimately make the coast.

During the 1820s there was much speculation in the colony of New South Wales concerning the interior of Australia. Did the eastern rivers run to an inland sea? Was there a connection by river with the gulfs on the southern coast of the continent? Sealers had recently reported a large ‘lagoon’ (Lake Alexandrina) near St. Vincent's Gulf on the southern coast. In 1829 Captain Charles Sturt was instructed by Governor Darling to follow the Murrumbidgee River, to see whether it joined the River Darling – discovered months earlier by Sturt – and to find out if the combined rivers found their way to the large lagoon or the southern ocean.

For Sturt, this was a furthering of an ambition ‘both for the sake of the colony and of geography, to fill up the blank of the Chart of Australia ...’
 On January 14th, more than two months after leaving Sydney, he and his seven men were rewarded for their efforts by the hurrying of their whaleboat from the Murrumbidgee into a new and far broader river, which Sturt soon afterwards named the Murray.

The expedition downriver to the river’s end at Lake Alexandrina and the Southern Ocean, and the struggle upstream, solved not only the puzzle of the inland rivers but was a direct stimulus to the establishment of the new British colony of South Australia six years later.
 Remarkably, one of the gum trees blazed by expedition members still displays the marks (Unincorporated - Chowilla section).

The south coast and lower Murray district was understandably a focus for attention by the colonists, and this was reflected in the instructions given the first Surveyor-General, Colonel William Light. He was told that the district seemed to combine ‘the requisite advantages in the highest degree’, as Sturt had reported, being central, fertile and well-watered. If safe passage could be made between Lake Alexandrina and the sea, the Murray and its tributaries would provide communication ‘not only with the interior of the new colony, but also with that extensive portion of New South Wales (then including Victoria), which lying to the west of the Blue Mountains, is practically excluded from connection with the eastern ports.’

However, Light dismissed the district described near the Murray, having decided (also on Sturt’s information) that the river outlet would not be navigable and that the coast was too exposed to the Southern Ocean to provide a safe harbour. Adelaide, the capital city, was sited beside the quiet shores of St. Vincent's Gulf instead, the other side of the Mount Lofty Ranges, to the west.

The first systematic exploration of the lakes and lower Murray district was made by T.B. Strangways and Y.B. Hutchinson in December, 1837.
 Theirs was an expedition sent by Governor Hindmarsh to see whether Sturt's Channel (past the present site of Goolwa) was the only outlet to the sea. They also visited and named several features including Currency Creek, Hindmarsh Island, Point McLeay and Point Sturt. Their exploration was cut short by the drowning of four men (with them, Judge Jeffcott and the Rossetta Head whaling station owner, Capt. Blenkinsop) attempting to take a boat across the Murray outlet. Strangways and Hutchinson were obviously impressed by the countryside as both became large land-holders in the area. Hutchinson also became directly involved with the subdivision of Goolwa Extension in 1856, long known as ‘Hutchinson's Town’.

Two epic journeys focussed attention again on the Murray riverlands and its lakes. In 1838 Joseph Hawdon brought a large mob of cattle overland from New South Wales down the Murray, naming Lake Bonney on his way after one of his companions, Charles Bonney. Bonney later wrote, ‘The people (in Adelaide) were surprised and delighted at the arrival of a herd of cattle overland. Up to this time they had been living almost exclusively on kangaroo flesh.’

Other mobs of cattle were brought along the route pioneered by Hawdon, by Edward John Eyre and Charles Sturt, and the overlanding of stock to the eager new colony became a regular event during the 1840s.

Charles Bonney arranged with Hawdon to bring over another herd of cattle for him, ‘and open up a direct communication with Melbourne instead of following the tortuous course of the Murray.’ In 1839 his party with the cattle ‘plunged into what was then considered an impassable desert’ and opened a route through the south east of South Australia, parallel to the coast. The cattle were revived by water which was found ‘to be an extensive lake connected with the main body of Lake Alexandrina by a narrow channel, and was afterwards named by Colonel Gawler, Lake Albert’.

The lands along the Murray and the lakes understandably attracted considerable attention from the speculators who founded the colony, and from their agents in South Australia. While Colonel Light’s surveys opened country lands near Adelaide to purchasers from 1838, the pressure for purchase was beyond what could be accomplished by the system of orderly survey. Between 1839 and 1841 a system of special surveys was established to cater for this demand. A purchaser,  who paid £4,000 in advance could select any area of 15,000 acres the already surveyed districts. 4,000 acres were chosen by the purchaser, the remainder being available at £1 per acre to other settlers, although frequently extra land was bought by the initial purchaser
33 special surveys were carried out in South Australia, before the patent unfairness of the system brought it to an end, biassed as it was towards large capitalists who could pick out the best country in the colony. Most of these surveys were in the well-watered fertile districts of the Mount Lofty Ranges, extending to the central hill country of  the Lower North, while the permanent waters of the Murray and lakes for obvious reasons were also popular. Seven special surveys were taken up within the region, four along the Murray at and below North West Bend and three about the shores of Lake Alexandrina. At least two consortia of speculators in London were involved. One, called the Currency Creek Association, had an elaborate town laid out at Currency Creek and a smaller river port called Town on the Goolwa. Neither was developed as town blocks although years later a small village developed at Currency Creek and Town on the Goolwa is now the northern part of Goolwa.

Another consortium formed a Secondary Towns Association in London ,whose first speculative venture in town lands was near the junction  of the Murray and Lake Alexandrina, where it seemed likely an important town would grow and which commanded ‘the best and most available passage over the river between Adelaide and Port Phillip’.
 The 4,500 acres was selected by their agent, John Morphett, and extended a mile each side of the river, the town itself being named Wellington. For many years it was called Morphett’s Crossing, as Morphett had started a ferry service ( the first across the Murray) and an incomplete causeway as early as 1839. (The causeway was completed in the 1840s by the government and the ferry was taken over in 1849).

Like other colonial agents, Morphett also bought into the action. He purchased a special survey immediately upriver of the Wellington Survey and also took up lease-hold land ‘at the back of the survey’ forming the ids Point Estate which was held by the Morphett family for almost a century.

Neil Malcolm bought the special survey on the south eastern shore of Lake Alexandrina at Point Malcolm, and this became Poltalloch. Malcolm took up the land, intending to establish some of his own tenants, from the family estate, Poltalloch in Scotland. However, they decided not to emigrate and Malcolm formed a cattle station instead, although, like his tenants, he did not emigrate. The run was occupied by a manager from about the mid 1840s.

Across the lake, another special survey, along the Angas River, was taken up by Hall and Mein, presumably agents, as the Angas survey was the most successful in the region, selling well and leading to the creation of the town of Strathalbyn (outside the region). The settlers at Strathalbyn were also interested in the countryside between the town and Lake Alexandrina and by 1842 pastoralists such as the Stirlings, the Rankines, Rodney, Anthony, Gilpin and Tod had thousands of sheep grazing the area, attended by shepherds. The Rankine family established a private ferry to carry sheep and cattle across to Hindmarsh Island, where John Rankine was in residence by 1844. There was a substantial stone house, accommodation for stock keepers and sheds on Hindmarsh Island, and workers' homes across the water at Clayton Cliffs, together with the ferry landings. These buildings were some of the earliest in the entire region constructed of permanent material, and one of the largest complexes built before the 1850s. Some relics survive. (D.C. Pt. Elliot and Goolwa)

Upriver, beyond Morphett's special surveys, the last two special surveys extended for several miles below North West Bend (their location is given as ‘below the Elbow of the Murray’.)

George Hall selected the special survey about and below North West Bend; though his choice was at first not so successful as the Angas River survey, numerous sections were leased by absentee speculators and much was absorbed into the huge Nor’West Bend Station run.

Much of this and Eyre’s survey further downriver was dominated by swamps and marshland and was left largely unoccupied and unimproved. However, on Eyre's special survey the first settlement along the entire river came into existence as the government established a military outpost and (unsuccessfully) advertised for sale the village of Sturt. The survey was claimed by Edward John Eyre and Osmond Gilles on the western bank of the river. Eyre settled at his station and government settlement of Moorundie in 1841, having been rewarded for his exploration efforts with an appointment as a Protector of Aborigines.
The appointment was timely, for by 1841 relations between the tribal Aborigines along the river and the Europeans were murderous. In 1840 on the Coorong 26 men, women and children from the wrecked ‘Maria’ were killed by the Milmenrura clan that are said to have also murdered the explorer, Captain Collet Barker, in 1831. Along the Upper Murray, the overlanders who followed Hawdon, Sturt and Eyre were far more ruthless with the Aboriginal, groups who lived along the way, who responded in kind: there were 7 or 8 overlanders killed. Thousands of sheep and hundreds of cattle went missing in one year alone. The numbers of Aborigines killed is not recorded, but Sturt observed in 1844 that the overlanding parties must have been responsible for the large decreases in population.

The official response to the attacks by the Aborigines (but not the overlanders) was equally savage. The Chief Commissioner of Police, Major O’Halloran, with a company of police troopers and eager volunteers, led punitive expeditions both to the Coorong and to the Upper Murray. In 1840 the Coorong expedition rounded up the Milmenrura, shot two of the reputed leaders and hanged two other men, whose bodies were left hanging at a site which was still known to local Aborigines almost a century later.
 The bodies of the Europeans were buried in simple graves along the Coorong shore (D.C. Meningie). Several fruitless excursions were made upriver. Finally, O’Halloran’s band of volunteers, police and the Protector of Aborigines, 55 men in all, reached the Rufus River (N.S.W.) where they were ambushed. There was a furious battle during that last stand of the Rufus tribes, a skirmish warfare such as the Europeans in Australia had rarely seen. The battle raged all day. At its end there were officially 30 of the Aborigines dead (according to later reports, probably many more) but only a few Europeans injured. ‘The natives were dispersed’, the lessons of retribution learned and there was little more ‘trouble’ upriver or down - at least for the Europeans.

One of the most remarkable heritage items in the riverlands region is a shallow cave in the cliffs near Waikerie, which was found by James Hawker during the expedition to the Rufus: ‘I found two curious caverns in the cliff with some designs of the natives scratched in the sand stone on the roof and walls.’ Hawker and other members of the party incised their names and the date, 1841, on the cave walls which are quite visible still.

Eyre, at Moorundie, established excellent relations with many of the riverland Aborigines, but the process of European settlement, of which his station was part, was inevitably to conflict with and ultimately destroy their culture, their livelihood and their lives.

The remaining riverland was taken up (or squatted on) during the 1840s and early 1850s, mostly by individuals or on behalf of companies which held large runs elsewhere in South Australia. For example, the South Australia Company took up the Lake Albert country south of Malcolm’s survey and the Narrung Peninsula as runs for sheep and cattle in 1843, with the head station at Bonney’s Wells (north of Meningie), and outstations at the sites of Meningie, Point Malcolm and Warrengie. Duncan McFarlane, who successfully wrested most of the Narrung Peninsula from the Company in 1844, retained the land when pastoral leases were first issued in 1851, and at about this time he had built the original section of the ‘Campbell House’ homestead (D.C. Meningie).

Allan McFarlane established ‘Wellington Lodge’ on 34 square miles of leasehold country on the eastern side of the river and Lake Alexandrina in 1845. Upriver near Moorundie Lachlan McBean squatted at Roonka Station, holding an occupation licence in 1845.

Few relics of this first period of pastoral occupation survive. Where homesteads, stables and fences were constructed they were usually rudimentary structures using impermanent materials, reeds, mud, timber, thatch and saplings, although the original ‘Poltalloch’ homestead at Poltalloch Bluff is a sturdy stone cottage. (D.C. Meningie) More extensive station settlements, and increasingly opulent homesteads were generally built after the introduction of the first pastoral leases, and in the remoter upriver districts as paddle steamer transport developed after 1853.
 While the 1851 leases excluded any lands being within two miles of the river banks, in fact most of the rich river flats were grazed by leaseholders’ stock.

More intensive settlement was restricted to the lower river at Wellington and in the countryside to the west of Lake Alexandrina. This is reflected by the fact that by far the earliest District Councils in the region were formed in that area D.C. Encounter Bay (1853), D.C. Bremer (1855) and D.C. Alexandrina (1856).

Wellington’s position as the main overlanding river crossing (with its humble ferry) was reinforced when the overland mail service was opened in 1846, and when the first hurrying parties of diggers travelled to the Victorian gold rush in 1851. During the 1840s the Government built there police barracks, ferryman's house and ferry landing. Four hotels were built in the 1840s and 1850s three of which still stand. The Wellington Hotel, much altered, is as popular as of old, the Bushman’s Camp is in ruins and the East Wellington Hotel was later a post office and is unoccupied.

Copper mining and the development of agriculture as well as sheep raising in the Strathalbyn and Currency Creek districts stimulated some development. A post office was built at Currency Creek in 1849.

Otherwise, settlement along lake and river remained sparse, primitive and impermanent. This – after the original interest in the region -was hardly surprising, given its untamed and arid nature, the wild dogs, the heat and the isolation and the continuing (but unpublicised) conflict with the Aborigines. After his pioneering paddleboat voyage in 1853 William Randell wrote a description of the riverland which is typical of general opinion:
As to the land upon the banks, we cannot speak so favourably. There is a narrow track of land near the river on both sides, which in time perhaps may be cultivated, but before that takes place land in South Australia must become much more scarce and labour much more plentiful. Much of the land likely to prove of the most value is annually flooded, the rest is scrub.’

1853-1880: the river as highway to the interior 

we were much astonished to find a stream so little known and hitherto almost unexplored presenting so few obstacles ...

The officers and seamen who accompany Captain Cadell express their unbounded wonder at the capabilities of this noble river and cannot imagine how it should have been so long neglected. There is deep water – a natural highway, connecting vast tracts of country, yet till the present moment no steps have been taken to turn it to advantage. The whole party are delighted upon measure.

If there were to be two historical themes isolated which have had the major impact on the history and heritage of the riverlands, these would be the river boat trade and irrigation. To a large extent these were mutually exclusive, having effect at different times and in different parts of the region. The period 1853 to 1880 is acclaimed as the golden age of navigation on the river systems of south-eastern Australia. It was thus by far the most significant period for the heritage of those towns whose development was directly linked to the dramatic rise and decline of the river trade.

A succession of South Australia's early Governors had great personal interest in the south coast and lower Murray, particularly in terms of its role in the development of the Murray trade. Hindmarsh wanted Adelaide moved there, Gawler explored along the river as far as the site of Morgan, and Sir Henry Fox Young thoroughly examined the river with his wife, Lady Augusta and party in 1850. They returned by boat to Goolwa, then to Adelaide, convinced that vessels on the river could open up the interior. In Adelaide Young had proclaimed a bonus of 44,000 to the first two iron steam boats ‘that shall successfully navigate the River from Goolwa to the Darling Junction.’

As cargoes had to be moved from the river to the sea, the only alternative to the dangerous passage of the Murray Mouth was the construction of a canal or a railway between Goolwa and the nearest safe anchorage on Encounter Bay. Governor Young decreed this to be at Horseshoe Bay, which was proclaimed Port Elliot in 1851 (out of the region). He also proposed a scheme for a railway connecting Port Elliot and Goolwa, despite opposition, particularly from Port Adelaide merchants.

The necessary public works were started before the first paddle steamer had even started upon the river. These, no doubt, were far greater inducement than the cash prize. Governor Young financed the works from he Land Fund - despite much opposition - in what were the first extensive public works undertaken in the Colony. These included the jetties at Port Elliot and Goolwa, the Port Elliot and Goolwa Railway and the Railway superintendent’s house at Goolwa.

In 1853 first two river steamers paddled the route upriver. Francis Cadell (with Governor Young aboard) took the ‘Lady .Augusta’ and William Randell in a quite independent trip, took the ‘Mary Ann’, having made his first trip on the river from Noa Noa to Wall. Cadell brought his paddleboat through the Murray Mouth, and departed from Goolwa with a locally made barge, the ‘Eureka’, and Randell steamed from Mannum for clearance at Goolwa before travelling upstream. Their spectacular successes and remunerative cargoes provided an immediate stimulus to further inland settlement and to the development of a massive river trade in South Australia, New South Wales and Victoria, with Goolwa as final port at the ‘bottom end’ of the river system, and Port Elliot as sea-port.

Port Elliot and Goolwa were soon linked by the planned-for railway, reduced, as a cost-cutting measure, to a single track, horse-powered now claimed to be Australia's first public iron track railway. This was operating by 1854, with the associated works and all the associated works virtually complete. Another tramway linked these towns, via Middleton and Currency Creek, with Strathalbyn in 1869. One of the three large viaducts along the line still spans Currency Creek. (D.C. Elliot and Goolwa) .

The Port Elliot and Goolwa railway, together with the activities associated with the river trade, attracted an influx of settlers to the nearby district. They included farmers, who cleared the dense scrub and grew good crops, and townspeople who built houses, stores, schools, hotels, churches, mills, and kilns within an astonishingly short period of time, as the many surviving early buildings and sites in Goolwa show. (D.C. Port Elliot and Goolwa)

The new government town of Goolwa was surveyed during 1853, south of the 1840 surveyed Town on the Goolwa, with an interesting layout focussed entirely on the river. The quarter-acre blocks were auctioned in that year, and by 1857 were all taken up. Adjoining sections were also privately subdivided during those years, including Goolwa Extension (Hutchinson’s Township) and North Goolwa.

With the river opened, the railway working and wharfs established at Goolwa and Port Elliot, the volume of-trade increased enormously. Paddle steamers towed barges carrying supplies upriver to pastoralists, to the gold diggings and to new-grown towns, and returned laden with wool. Extensions to the Goolwa Wharf were soon necessary, and a few determined captains ran boats directly through the Murray Mouth, with regular services between Goolwa and Port Adelaide starting in 1857.
 A signal and pilot station was set up at the outlet and beacons provided along the safest route to Goolwa. Port Goolwa was proclaimed in 1857, and was made a customs point – one of a chain of customs ports which so complicated the intercolonial trade – and a ships’ survey centre.

The river crews were a skilled, rough lot, ‘half-seamen, half-landsmen, who could turn their hands to almost anything’,
 and whose visits enlivened Goolwa and provided business for the police, the prostitutes and the three hotels. The captains operated also as traders, storekeepers, builders and speculators – all of which had a marked impact on the Town of Goolwa
Like other important country towns, Goolwa’s industries included breweries, a saw mill and a flour mill, as well as an industry which was virtually unique, that of ship building and repairs. Goolwa was the first Australian river port where vessels were built, and became the second most productive after Echuca (Victoria). Between 1853 and 1912 37 paddle steamers and 23 barges were built at Goolwa, out of a total of more than 350 vessels built for the Murray trade as a whole (1852-1923).
 After its establishment in 1864, the main shipbuilding and repair works at Goolwa was the Goolwa Iron Works,
 to which was added a foundry, and which included a ‘patent’ slip in the River. The foundry produced not only ships and engines but also other machinery, castings and railway trucks. It was greatly expanded when taken over about 1867 by Abraham Graham, by the 1870s employing 30 to 40 tradesmen almost continuously. Its size and near-permanent employment were something of a rarity in South Australia: industries in the nineteenth century. Despite this, the relative impermanence of industrial structures is also obvious, as there is almost no trace left today, apart from an extremely rare old Beam engine and the small stone chart room. After the lapse in shipbuilding in the 1880s, the major machinery was sold to the Chaffey Brothers and removed to Renmark about 1888. This was both appropriate and ironic as the Chaffeys’ irrigation settlement presaged the era of irrigation development which superseded the dwindling river boat trade at the turn of the century (see period 3, 1881-1905).

While Goolwa was by far the most important of the river trade towns in South Australia at this time, several other towns were developed for the same reason. These were (on the lakes) Milang and Meningie and (on the river) Mannum, Blanchetown and Morgan.

The two pioneer captains, Francis Cadell and William Randell, were linked to the development of the towns as well as the river trade, Cadell at Goolwa and Randell as the ‘father of Mannum’. (The boiler of Randell’s ‘Mary Ann’ is now situated at Mannum as a memorial to his role). Randell's father was a lease-holder in the vicinity when W.R. Randell decided upon his career. He based himself at the site he probably named Mannum, from 1853 unloading the steamers and barges at his Darling Wharf. During the 1850s and 1860s up to 20,000 bales of wool were dropped at Mannum in a season, stored at Randell's Woolshed and transported by wool teams to Port Adelaide (Mannum being the closest river port to the city).

When the Government township of Port Mannum was surveyed in 1864, Randell, who was determined to keep control of the river traffic, subdivided an alternative Port Mannum, which was far more developed than the official town. It was augmented by seven other private subdivisions. By 1880 Mannum was a small but thriving township with its stone houses, its wharfs and sheds, church and school and hotel, its flour mill and the Shearer brothers' implement works. The shape of the town followed the lines laid by Randell and the other private subdividers. Randell himself lived at Mannum (with periods at other river towns) until 1876. His first house is incorporated in the Mannum Hotel; his second is the suitably dominating ‘Bleak House’ set amidst extensive irrigated gardens high above the river.
 (D.C. Mannum)
The Government had more success with its surveys of the other port townships. Milang was surveyed in 1853/4, on high ground beside Lake Alexandrina near the terminus of the Strathalbyn to the lake road. Town allotments were bought in 1854 by the usual mixture of absentee speculators, small businessmen and local land-holders, but its prospects as a port were such that a township began to emerge almost immediately, aided by the construction of a jetty in 1856. The South Australian Register reported in 1857,

Milang is becoming a very bustling little port and will shortly grow into a place of importance. Already it has two inns, a steam mill, a store of some extent, a chapel in the course of erection, a timber yard and a jetty off which there were lying on Tuesday the Symmetry  twenty five tons, the Blue Jacket five tons and the Enterprise eight tons. There are now about one hundred and ten souls in the township and several hundred settlers live within a radius of two or three miles. Cultivation is progressing extensively and wheat and flour are being continuously shipped, and also silver lead ore from the Strathalbyn and Wheal Ellen mines.

The ‘store of some extent’ was probably the beginnings of A.H. Landseer's business. Landseer was one of the first businessmen to realise the potential of the Murray trade. He first accepted a position as agent for Captain Francis Cadell. He came to Milang in 1856 and his shipping firm, with its headquarters at Milang, and later set up branches and agencies at many riverland towns including Goolwa, Murray Bridge, Morgan, Loxton, Wentworth and Mildura. While the impressive Landseer warehouse at Milang has been destroyed, that at Morgan remains, and stores at Loxton and Waikerie. In Milang’s heyday as a port it exported more than half the total River Murray exports from South Australia, although it did not possess Goolwa’s advantage of tramway connections with Port Elliot and Strathalbyn.
 There was a considerable local trade as well. Landseers were amongst the largest suppliers of manufactured goods and building materials. Galvanised iron, sawn timber and bricks were soon widely used in station homesteads and townships about the lakes and river, replacing, in the main buildings at least, the reeds, saplings and thatch of the earlier period.

Milang’s early development was influenced by two quite independent forms of shipping. Besides the Murray River steamers, which passed via Milang to Goolwa, a fleet of sailing schooners and shallow draught paddle steamers operated on Lakes Alexandrina and Albert and the upper reaches of the Coorong, with Milang as home port. Also, from 1867 the overland mail and travellers to the South East and Melbourne were carried via Milang to Meningie by steamer before continuing the journey by road.

Meningie, on the eastern side of Lake Albert, was accordingly laid out by the Government in 1866, the post office opening there, for the overland mail, in 1867. Meningie remained a very small settlement in a large pastoral and agricultural district, and was populated mainly by fishermen. ‘Sam’ Mincham, who was born in a small weatherboard cottage in 1885, recalls an existence which remained essentially unchanged from the 1860s till well into the twentieth century. His mother held school and ‘acted as lawyer and doctor for the district’, while his father ‘fished for market, went game shooting, did casual work, road construction, harvesting etc.’
‘... in the early days we were living in paradise here. We had weeds here for a mile out, fish by the million and ducks and birds of all descriptions. Well, you could live off the land and the water ...’
 Accordingly, the simple stone, weatherboard and galvanised iron cottages of the town (and along the Coorong) are its most significant heritage. A number of them are basic skillion roofed structures. Many were built in the twentieth century by Sam Mincham himself.

By contrast, all the pastoral wealth of the surrounding district was concentrated in the hands of a few large landholders. Until 1902 most of the country surrounding Meningie itself was included in one holding known as ‘Warrengee Station’. During this period 18531880 pastoralism, mainly wool growing, was consolidated and increasingly lucrative, particularly in the lakes district which escaped the worst effects of the 1863-5 drought. The original station complexes evolved from a few primitive structures into elaborate settlements. Water transport and the growing local towns made available the means and techniques. But the main stimulus was due to the centralisation of labour with the introduction of fencing, and the pastoralists' desire to express ‘their success in a show of permanence, functional efficiency and aesthetic refinement’.
 The woolsheds, outbuildings, men's quarters and above all, the homesteads of the great pastoral holdings, ‘Narrung’, ‘Lallawa’, ‘Campbell House’, ‘Poltalloch’, ‘Lake Albert’, ‘Warrengee’ and ‘Wellington Lodge’ (all D.C. Meningie) and ‘Nalpa’ and ‘Wellington’ (D.C. Murray Bridge) were almost all redeveloped in this manner, with a distinctive style and scale rarely matched elsewhere in South Australia. While the homesteads were not so ostentatiously grand, upriver stations like ‘Roonka’, ‘Nor’West Bend’, ‘Murtho’, ‘Paringa’ and ‘Chowilla’ were similarly greatly expanded and reconstructed during this period. However, most of these were held on pastoral lease rather than freehold, and were progressively resumed for closer settlement. Some pastoral lease-holders branched out into the hotel business, notably Herman von Reiben of ‘Brenda Park’, whose North West Hotel was licensed in 1855, and John Chambers' Overland Corner Hotel.

The only other actual village established by the lakes in this period was the Point McLeay Mission, founded by the Aboriginal Friends’ Association on the Narrung Peninsula in 1859. The main objective was the education of Aboriginal children. As the advantages of European education were well recognised by the Ngarrindjeri and other groups, children were sent to the boarding school, built in 1860, from through​out the region. Limited tenure of land was granted in 1868. After this the building of a chapel and ‘native cottages’ was started, together with a small farm started by the Administrator, Reverend George Taplin, and skilfully run by the resident Aboriginal men.

By the time of Taplin’s death, in 1879, besides the school, the chapel, staff houses and store, there were sixteen cottages which were occupied. Almost all were built by the Ngarrindjeri, although the cost of materials (which they had to find themselves) meant that only another eight cottages were built in the following decade.

There was never enough land to successfully support a settlement of some size. Despite the fact that the entire region had once been held by the Aborigines, more often than not the Government refused to increase the size of the mission or to permit permanent tenure. This had a profound effect on the morale of the surviving Ngarrundjeri families and consequently on the state of Point McLeay.

Small, mostly insufficient blocks of land were granted for individual use by the Government from the 1870s along the Coorong and later at Wellington, some of which are still Aboriginal Reserves. These were taken up by a number of Ngarrindjeri families from Point McLeay as independent farmers – a series of small stone houses or ruins along the Coorong testifies to the efforts of men such as Henry Lampard, Alfred Cameron and Peter Gollan – but by 1906 the near-uselessness of the land as farms resulted in the leasing of most of it to adjacent pastoralists. The Wellington farmers were more successful. One of the most noted of these was William MacHughes, who had first gone into partnership with Henry Lampard in 1872 and who led another exodus from the mission by settling at East Wellington in 1892. He was besides, an active Christian preacher and a mason of great skill who had worked on the mission chapel and then built may of the houses there and in the surrounding district.

... he was one of the most outstanding Ngarrindjeri men of modern times ... perhaps the building which best enshrines the nobility of the man, is the chapel at East Wellington (later a community hall) (which MacHughes built) completely without payment - at the same time as he was attempting to survive on an inadequate block ... (and) providing an exemplar for the invading race.’

Upriver, events moved more slowly, Apart from Mannum, three other townships were established during this period, all of which acted as river ports but none of which were as important at this stage as Goolwa or Milang.

Of these, the earliest was Blanchetown, which was surveyed as a government town in 1855 and took over the functions of nearby Moorundie, which was less suitable as a port. Blanchetown, besides, was located at an easy crossing of the river, and with its twin functions as staging point and river port, the township enjoyed a minor burst of development in the decade 1865 to 1875. The road between Truro and Blanchetown was declared a main road in 1860 and it became the main coach route between Adelaide and Wentworth in N.S.W. Further upriver, the Overland Corner Hotel was licensed in the same year as a house of accommodation for the travellers and for overlanding drovers.

The Blanchetown Hotel served the same travellers at Blanchetown from the late 1850s. By 1866 there was also a post office, a telegraph station (for the overland telegraph to Sydney), customs house, store and shipping agency. Soon afterwards, the town was recommended as the terminus of a proposed Murray railway but the Government extended the Kapunda railway to North West Bend instead, where Morgan was surveyed as the terminus and proclaimed a port in 1878. Blanchetown remained

‘a tiny, scattered collection of small buildings’
 as Morgan developed as a major river port second only in importance to Goolwa.

Morgan was a ‘political’ town, a product of fierce intercolonial jealousies focussing on the wealth to be drawn from the Murray trade by the three colonies traversed by the river. As a N.S.W. Senator observed somewhat unjustly, in 1907:

With a frenzy for river navigation and the exploitation of the inland trade of New South Wales, the Government of South Australia .., constructed a line of railway from Adelaide – (people who have travelled over it refer to it with a shudder) – built extensive wharfage with railway sidings, erected large storage sheds, and installed hydraulic cranes, all to accommodate a trade that never came, and is never likely to come.’

The Government’s determination was reflected in the speed with which facilities were established at Morgan: part of the 30 foot high wharf was in operation by 1878 and by 1880 through traffic was so enormous 6 trains a day were coming and going from Adelaide. Gangs of up to 40 men worked continuous shifts on the wharf, with an urgency reinforced by the fierce competition between ship owners while the seasonal waters kept the boats and barges afloat.

Many of Morgan's major commercial and industrial buildings were constructed within this short period of time, the local yellow lime​stone being used extensively as in other river towns. By 1881 there was a population of 361, living in 68 houses, besides the wharf and railway facilities, police station, school, customs house, post office and two hotels. (Von Rieben’s Hotel and Tayler’s hotel at Weston’s Flat closed in 1875).

For all the flurry and bustle at Morgan’s massive wharf, however, its railway signalled the beginning of the decline in river trade. As a railway had helped create the first river port, at Goolwa, so railways helped destroy it. The opening of the Echuca line in 1864 restricted the South Australian ports to trade on the river reaches below Echuca. Goolwa was considerably more affected by the construction of the Morgan line, but the final blow was the opening of the Murray Bridge line in 1884/5 (connecting with Melbourne in 1886).

Thompson’s Crossing (Swanport, between Wellington and Murray Bridge) was another site considered for the location of the bridge. In 1866 instead a ferry service was started there, which attracted the usual inn and store to serve the passing trade.

Wellington, which was the other site considered for the bridge also suffered when its crossing was by-passed by the construction of the bridge further upriver. Donald Gollan, of ‘Campbell House’ was one of a number of large landowners near Wellington who actually opposed the bridge, claiming that upgrading of the causeway would suffice.

Inevitably, the same event which contributed to the decline of Goolwa and Wellington stimulated the development of Murray Bridge. The tiny settlement was initially named Edwards' Crossing after Mrs. Edwards and her family who lived there.

The construction of the bridge was an event of great significance in South Australian history as it was the first permanent crossing over the River Murray to link the colony with eastern Australia. The ironwork was manufactured in London in the 1860s and on site construction started in 1873. The bridge was opened to road traffic in 1879, while the railway was connected (using the same bridge) in 1885. Apart from a handful of huts and the bridge-workers’ tents, the main building at this stage was an interestingly ‘angular’ stone house which is now known as the ‘Round House’. This was built about 1876 for the superintendent of building work on the bridge, and also accommodated the first government school (1881), the post office and early church services.

The other major process which was to have its impact upon the river landscape and its heritage was the expansion of agriculture. While the entire length of the river was made formally available for purchase by farmers with the declaration of the Hundred of Murray in 1860, with good reason most farmers in the 1850s and early 1860s kept to the well-watered, readily cleared districts in the vicinity of Milang and Goolwa. The heavy scrub and the arid nature of the uplands

further along the river deterred most farmers until the series of credit agreement bills, beginning with Strangway’s Act of 1869, provided incentives to farmers to move into the mallee. At this stage, the Mannum district was the most northern of the agricultural districts, its development summed up by Benjamin Baseby in 1907:

When in the early sixties if a person had come with farming implements to start farming he would have been taken straight to the Lunatic Asylum as a madman. I thought I would try the experiment of growing in 1870 my own horsefeed ... so I can claim to have grown the first bag of wheat ever grown in the district of Mannum. A neighbouring squatter came along .., he said I was taking a lot of trouble to feed the Kangaroos and Wallabies ... However I had a very good return for my labour …
It was not long after when the Hundred of Finniss was surveyed and thrown open for selection. I believe it was 1872. It is wonderful the changes that have taken place since then, anyone looking at the country now, cleared and cultivated as it is would scarcely believe that it was at one time nothing but a dense forest of Mallee and Pine as far as the eye could see looking from the top of the Palmer Ranges.’

There was an influx of farmers to the district between 1870 and 1884, many of them German families. (There is a typical German farmhouse ruin, at Wall, which dates from this period). The population in Mannum itself increased from 50 in 1860 to 773 in 1881 and this reflected the greater effect agriculture had on the development of the town than the river trade alone. With its flour mill and implement works as well as its shipping, Mannum became the market and centre for wheat farmers east of the Mt. Lofty Ranges, with wheat being shipped downstream, while flour and mill products were sent upstream to the northern districts and N.S.W. ‘The history of early Mannum is essentially a history of an agricultural settlement situated on the natural transport route of the River Murray.

1881-1905: the river as a conqueror of the desert

The banks of the Murray are not dead but asleep – it wants but the enterprise of man to awaken them to exuberant life.

Since the first cattle stations, successful but limited attempts had been made to irrigate the drylands beside the river. Visitors commented favourably on station gardens and Eyre spent i 5000 on irrigating about 8 miles of river flats at Moorundie as early as 1842, some relics of which works remain. In the 1860s there were smaller projects at Overland Corner and at Napper’s ‘Lake Bonney Hotel’. ‘By the 1870s, irrigation development in S.A., and elsewhere on the Murray was in its infancy, consisting of scattered, pioneering, individual and generally primitive efforts.’

Large scale irrigation works started, not with the watering of dry-land but with the reclaiming of wetland for growing fodder and vegetables with flood-irrigation. In 1881 the Governor, Sir William Jervois, bought the Jervois Estate and began the first reclamation of the lower Murray swamps, about 3,300 acres upstream from Wellington. Other large pastoralists in the vicinity followed suit in the 1880s and 1890s, including Hurtle Morphett at ‘Woods Point’, Sir J. Cowan of ‘Glen Lossie’ and Allan McFarlane at ‘Wellington Lodge’. By the early twentieth century the Woods Point scheme was particularly impressive, including, besides the reclaimed swamp, a neat village (Woods Point) built for employees and a series of ensilage silos (built between about 1905 and the 1920s) which still dominate the landscape. (D.C. Murray Bridge)

Several farmers, for example numerous members of the Jaensch family who had pioneered farming in the Murray Bridge district, combined wheat growing with the raising of swamp crops. The Jaensch family’s first river property, ‘Thalia’, is situated above the northern end of a swamp reclaimed many years later to become the Toora Irrigation Area. By the turn of the century this lower Murray area was gaining a distinct character, with its rich reclaimed swampland pastures, behind them spreading ‘grass and tilled fields, many yellow with ripening grain. Occasional homesteads and handsome dwellings crown the higher hill crests.’

The early 1880s were a period of drought and agricultural depression in South Australia, the declining wheat yields and unemployment stimulating an interest in agricultural reform and experimentation, including irrigation. The Government’s response during this period when it was still believed navigation rather than irrigation was the primary use of the river - was to facilitate private ventures rather than to initiate its own projects. But it was soon found that large-scale irrigation required financial resources and overall control of works and of water allocation which only the Government could supply.

The period 1881-1905, then, which was the first phase in the development of large-scale irrigation, saw the establishment of private settlements in which minimal government support soon gave way to considerable expenditure and administrative control, pointing the way to direct government involvement in reclamation and irrigation schemes after 1905. 

The first South Australian scheme came about as a result of the efforts of the Victorian Minister for Water Supply, Alfred Deakin, who was responsible for the construction of the Goulburn Weir which served the first Murray irrigation district of Echuca and Warranga (established in 1882). In 1886 he invited to Victoria George and William Chaffey, who were American engineers with practical experience of irrigation in Canada and California. George Chaffey chose Mildura (Victoria) as the site for an irrigation colony, but when Parliamentary opposition held up the negotiation of an agreement to establish the settlement, a similar agreement was hastily made with the Chaffey brothers by the South Australian Government in 1887. So, Australia's first irrigation colony was established at Renmark in 1887 (an agreement with Victoria meant that the Chaffeys established Mildura in the same year).

An eight year drought and hordes of invading rabbits, migrating down the river system, had decimated the upper Murray runs: Renmark was established on part of the old Bookmark Station ‘and the Chaffeys were confronted with the task of changing the face and shape of half a million acres of virgin and inhospitable land.’

The Chaffeys had the town of Renmark laid out beside the river, grid pattern, with 800 town lots and 92 2.5 acre villa allotments. The blocks of the irrigation settlement were situated alongside, the open irrigation channels and roads extending fan-shape northwards into the mallee. The 1887 agreement gave the Chaffeys a lease of 30,000 acres (Block A) with the possibility of taking up a further 220,000 acres (Block B) but the progress of the scheme was far more modest, with 2,700 acres irrigated by 1896 and another 1,000 acres under irrigation by 1905.

By 1888 the Chaffey pumps were in operation, the office building (now the Renmark Irrigation Trust) was nearly complete and ‘settlers were arriving by the score from England in response to the Chaffey’s famous Red Book, which described with lavish detail (and no little exaggeration) 'The Australian Irrigation Colonies' and their glorious future.’
 Charles Chaffey administered the Renmark estates, his home the pine log homestead ‘Olivewood’, situated on the irrigation settlement.

In the town itself most houses were of timber, pug or iron - twenty years later it was unflatteringly depicted as a ‘straggling, dusty, dilapidated hamlet’.
 By then, however, the success of both town and settlement was assured, following great uncertainty when the Chaffeys were bankrupted by the bank smash of 1893. The Renmark Irrigation Trust Act was passed in the same year and the Trust has since administered the irrigation settlement from the Chaffeys' original office. Co-operation between settlers, which is such a marked characteristic of the riverland towns and industries, pulled the settlement through its struggle, ‘the whole place surging with debt’.

Perhaps the most famous example of Renmark’s co-operative efforts is the Renmark Hotel. The Chaffeys’ prohibition of the sale of alcohol inevitably brought about a drunken rash of sly grog shops. The local newspaper editor suggested instead that the town establish and profit from its own hotel on lines similar to the Gothenburg system. A committee of settlers bought a temperance hotel, built in about 1895, and opened it as the Renmark Community Hotel in 1897. Its profits (after maintaining and enlarging the building) have been used ‘for the benefit of the whole irrigation settlement of Renmark in the promotion of literature, science, art or for benevolent or charitable purposes.’
Upriver from Renmark, Murtho was proclaimed a port in 1884; it was simply a customs point at the N.S.W. border but ten years later a settlement of the same name was established some distance downriver, between the old Murtha Park homestead and Paringa. Similar to Renmark in its land-use, Murtho was radically different in its social organisation, which was communist, rather than capitalist, based.

It was a big and joyous adventure to go a trip up the Murray River, for a girl of twenty-two, who had lived quietly at the then village of Woodville ...

There were about ten single men, three single women, and about ten families, each adult paying in £80, or its equivalent in horses, machinery, etc., and the houses were built along a road at the top of the cliffs, each facing the river. So many good citizens had gone to New Australia, in Paraguay, by the 'Royal Tar', and other boats that the Government opened up this land in the Hundred of Murtho, and the Murtho Village Settlement was formed on co-operative lines, its motto being –‘From each according to his ability, to each according to his need’ ...

... The school house, with office attached, was a central building, and was used by the men for frequent’ board meetings ... (each meeting) decided what work was to be done, that week (or next day), and by whom; and chose the president for the ensuing term. A lean-to at the back of the school was used as carpenter's shop and smithy ...
That first year we had a very little area plowed, and got a big crop of wheat from it, but the succeeding three years we had only 5 inches of rain per year, and got no crop. We could irrigate the orchard, but it took too much of the available labour, two men at the engine day and night pumping water to the cliff top, (110 feet I think) and two men guiding the water in the channels ... The same with our big vegetable garden ...
Each house had its garden of fruit, flowers and vegetables, water was pumped for these on Saturday afternoon, if it had not rained ... 

Murtho was one of a number of communal village settlements established on the upper Murray under Government legislation passed in 1893 which was aimed at relieving widespread unemployment by getting people on to the land. The legislation provided for associations of 20 or more settlers to be formed, which were granted land on perpetual lease, each villager being given 450 so that they could establish themselves. A total of thirteen village settlements were created in 1893-1894, eleven of them along the upper Murray and based on irrigation – Murtha, Lyrup, Pyap, New Residence, Moorook, Kingston, Holder, Gillen, New Era, Waikerie and later, Ramco (which was an offshoot, resulting from a dispute among the Waikerie settlers).

Land in the surrounding mallee scrub was cleared and cereal crops were grown, with small amounts of irrigated fruit and vegetable crops. Most buildings were hastily constructed of timber and hessian, and not surprisingly, the most enduring structures were communal buildings such as the schools or halls and the works associated with the pumping of water for irrigation. At Murtho only the pump well, holding tank and part of the irrigation channel remain (D.C. Paringa), while the most impressive irrigation relic is the Pyap chimney (D.C. Lorton).

As at Renmark, the Government soon became deeply involved financially, particularly as the schemes were not nearly as successful as was hoped. Most of the villagers were labourers or tradesmen and their families from the industrial suburbs. Less than 15% of the approximately 600 villagers had any agricultural background. More poignantly, all villagers found the reality of co-operative life beyond their dreams of realisation and amidst much internal dispute many departed. Their disillusionment was reinforced by the struggle to create homes and to raise crops in a remote and drought-stricken country, although Elsie Gilmour’s letters describe also the pleasures of communal entertainment and the beauties of the river.

A Royal Commission investigated the settlements in 1899 and Sam McIntosh who was to have great influence on future irrigation schemes – was appointed to guide settlers. By then, New Residence, Gillen, New Era, and Murtho associations had disbanded. The 1899 investigation brought about the abolition of the communistic form of control and gave the remaining settlers independent holdings on lease, with a co-operative system of water supply. Through continued lack of capital and disunity, by 1905 all but Lyrup (which alone now remains a village settlement) Kingston, Waikerie and Ramco were closed by the Government and the estates were sold or re-let.

Despite their failures as communist ventures, the village settlements represented another advance both in irrigation and in the closer settlement of the upper Murray. From the mid 1890s, German farmers from the Mannum and Murray Scrub districts were impressed by the crops of wheat raised by the village settlers and took up land along the river in the vicinity of Pyap and New Residence, the latter being taken over and a Lutheran congregation established there in 1901. The main group of farmers, the ‘96rs’, sowed their first crops in 1896 near Loxton’s boundary rider’s but on the old Bookpurnong Run. Men, women and children worked clearing, sowing, harvesting and building their pug and pine huts, living on vegetables, rabbits, fish and the stores bought from the occasional paddlesteamer.

The history of the pioneering farms of the largely German families in the Murray Bridge district is similar, and with the completion of the bridge and the railway connection their numbers grew. Their first impressions of the district were not necessarily favourable, however. One settler commented ‘Murray Bridge was considered a very desirable place to depart from. The surrounding country was mostly in the possession of rabbits and wild dogs and almost as far as the eye could reach was a wilderness of mallee scrub.’
 As elsewhere along the river, the first houses were built of pug and pine as these were the most easily obtained materials. At least one of these survives intact, within the town itself.

Due to their railway connections with Adelaide, during this period, Murray Bridge and Morgan became the river's main ports. At Murray Bridge ‘the settlement exploded into life. It took at once the bulk of trade from Mannum until then a leading port ... Murray Bridge became the terminal for shipping downstream from Morgan, grain, fruit, fish, wool, came up river for transfer to rail for Adelaide or Melbourne. In return, all the general goods and hardware to get a farming community on its feet went from Murray Bridge by steamer.’

Mobilong (Murray Bridge) was declared a port in 1886. The town wharf was ‘a hive of activity’ from the 1880s until as late as 1930. The settlement became the home town of a number of riverboat skippers. Captain Johnstone’s home, for example, built in 1892, is now the Murray Bridge museum. By the late 1880s, the town possessed several stone houses and public buildings, including churches and hotels, as well as its own Council (the District Council of Mobilong, 1884) . As a railway town, Murray Bridge also boasted an increasing number of railway facilities and buildings, including a series of railway cottages near the line.
Other District Councils were also formed during this period, which indicates that a number of the newer riverland districts and towns had attained a respectable total population and stability. They included the District Councils of Mannum (1877), Meningie and Morgan (1888) and Hamley (Renmark 1904).
The railways contributed to the riverland's prosperity and the railways drained it away. In 1885 the Sydney to Bourke railway was completed and much of the Darling trade was diverted to Sydney, leading to a further decline in paddlesteamer trade and affecting even Morgan. The ‘bottom end’ towns of Milang and Goolwa, on the other hand, while declining as ports, benefitted from railway connections via Strathalbyn to Adelaide in 1884 (the Currency Creek/Middleton section was closed and steam replaced horses on the Goolwa line). Rather than ports, both towns became more important as service centres for agricultural hinterlands, which were by this time changing from the concentration upon wheat alone to mixed farming, as the soils were becoming exhausted.

When the Adelaide to Melbourne railway was completed in 1886, at the last point the line touched the river the town of Tailem Bend was surveyed and was proclaimed in 1887, the first Government-surveyed town on the eastern bank of the Murray. The town was laid out ‘in a rectangular and uninteresting manner’ especially for railway employees. At this stage almost its only inhabitants were the fettlers living in the three weatherboard railway cottages and the cattle for which they were paid by the Jaensch family of ‘Thalia’ to let through the railway gates of an evening to drink at the river. Tailem Bend remained ‘but a railway siding’ until the First World War, and as its population increased after that the surviving fettler's cottage acted also as town meeting-place for church, socials, public gatherings and private celebrations.

Mannum alone seemed unaffected by its lack of a railway connection with Adelaide, yet, during this period its growth was greater than that of most of the other river towns. Besides its wharfs and Randell's dock and its provision of services to farmers, the basis for the town was industrial. Its most important industry was Shearers' Manufactory. In 1876 John Shearer was invited by local farmers to start implement repair in the town. Joined by his brother, David, in 1878, their blacksmithing was soon enlarged beyond their original premises as their agricultural implements found a ready market. By 1895 employment had increased to 55 and Shearers enlarged their works again to the opposite side of the road near their wharf. The river enabled them to extend their markets for hundreds of miles into N.S.W. and Victoria. In 1904 John Shearer established a branch in Adelaide while David further expanded the industry at Mannum, where he built new factory, with 110 employees, in 1910 (now Horwood Bagshaw). Besides Shearers', other industries included Walker's flour milling, Capt. Randell's shipbuilding and J.L. Scott and Son's engineering firm.

With continued industrial and agricultural expansion the town's population grew from 50 in 1860 to 1,675 by 1891, an era of developme.77. from a small river port into a town of industrial importance by the turn of the century. The business and residential areas' expansion brought about the joining of the private town and Port Mannum in 1886. The district's population was divided between farmers and factory workers, with commercial artisans serving both.

Until 1890, the primary producers were the mainstay of Mannum, but from 1900 onwards, the town's growth reflected the swing towards industrialisation, so development took the form of larger factories and new plant, which was accompanied by more workers, and consequently new houses, schools and churches, and public works. By the turn of the century with a population of (more than) 1,600 Mannum was second only to Murray Bridge as the largest town on the Lower Murray.’ 

1906-1940: the river as permanent waterway 

After the first world war the Murray below the Victorian border changed beyond recognition. Sheep wildernesses were gone replaced with green patches of soldiers' settlements about the pumps along the river. The gospel of irrigation had spread.

Only Lyrup survives as one of the original village settlements. The old village settlements rose like a phoenix from their ashes. At the beginning of 1920 the river between Lake Bonney and Renmark was a thronged highway with steamers, teams of men and machinery, all changing the face of nature. The land was mapped out in 15 acre blocks. Modern pumping machinery to lift water 150 feet was installed to transform the dry Australian scrub into a little Italy.

Twenty towns and settlements simultaneously rose in the bush. 600 demobilised soldiers took up land and the steamers were working like beavers to transform the land under the direction of the Director of Irrigation. The Government spent millions.

Below Morgan the swamps were reclaimed. For 20 miles above and below Murray Bridge the swamps were drained and levees erected and 50 miles of river flats were reclaimed.

The year of 1906 marks the beginning of this dramatic transformation of the river landscape. The change was in large part due to the direct involvement of the Government as part of its general policy to stimulate agricultural expansion in the State, following the severe effects of the 1890s depression and ensuing drought. To begin with, the Government included in its policy of land settlement the reclamation and subdivision of the swamps on the lower reaches of the Murray. This was carried out within the framework of the Closer Settlement Legislation which provided for the repurchase and subdivision of large freehold estates.

The private reclamation projects, particularly the Morphetts’ at Woods Point, were demonstrating the potential of the swamplands for closer settlement. Work was started by the Surveyor-General's Department on the Burdett and Mobilong swamps near Murray Bridge, which were embanked and drained by 1906, followed by Monteith, Long Flat and Mypolonga Flats which were allotted between 1908 and 1914.

After 1910 control was passed from the Surveyor-General's Department to a newly created Irrigation Department under the direction of Sam McIntosh, whose house was later built on McIntosh Hill (D.C. Murray Bridge) strategically overlooking Mobilong swamp. The swamps surveyed and reclaimed after 1919 came under soldier settlement legislation, but work proceeded slowly between 1910 and the early 1920s until the locking of the river regulated the river levels. By 1929, most of the swamp areas between Mannum and Wellington, which were not being developed privately, had been reclaimed and settled. These included Cowirra, Neeta, Pompoota, Wall, Mypolonga, Mobilong, Burdett, Monteith and Jervois.

The Government assisted in the clearing and fencing of the land and with the construction of embankments, channels, tanks and soldier settlers' houses, which were usually built on the high land which was provided with each lease. During the 1920s as dairying became a major industry in the reclaimed areas, the Government also constructed a series of milk boat landings, from which large motor boats conveyed milk to the Beauchamp Brothers and Southern Farmers milk factories on the riverfront at Murray Bridge. The freestone Beauchamp Brothers Milk Factory was built in 1914, when milk production started on the newly reclaimed swamp pastures. It was probably the first milk factory built along the Murray.

The life story of Thomas Wells, who was born in 1896, is a faithful reflection of this early twentieth century riverlands history. With his family, he was one of the original settlers at Monteith, in 1908. He went away to war and was wounded; back at home he worked on Pompoota Training Farm for returned soldiers, then on the ‘Marion’, which carried supplies to build No. 1 Lock near Blanchetown. During the 1920s he worked for the railways, then when the works were transferred from Murray Bridge to Tailem Bend, in 1927 he built the family's present house and pioneered market gardening in the Murray Bridge district which his son carries on today.

The Pompoota Training Farm was established downstream and opposite Mannum in about 1917 by the Lands Department. Up to 250 trainee blockers worked on the farm, the single men living in barracks, the families in cottages lining ‘Honeymoon Avenue’. Although the land is now in private ownership a surprising number of the original residences and farm buildings remain.

Thomas Wells took a roundabout route to agriculture, but many of his contemporaries followed similar varied pursuits, fed by the river.

The riverlands was one of the few parts of South Australia which could sustain not only enduring settlements but also a roving population. These people have left no permanent heritage, apart from the occasional fisherman's but which survived the 1956 flood, yet their place in the history of the Murray is as assured as that of those other river nomads, the Aborigines, before them or the stolid towns and farms which have all but effaced them.

In 1908 when E.J. Brady took the first motor boat down the length of the Murray, he observed in South Australia numbers of other ‘river rovers’. He spoke with a family engaged in cod-fishing and living on the ‘Daisy’, its bulwarks wire-netted to keep the children safe aboard. In his book, River Rovers, Brady wrote,

From the ship’s stove went up, out of the mouths of bubbling pots, the song of the family meal. We passed many such craft occupied in similar fashion and every hour caught fresh glimpses of river life. Small covered boats there were many – some tied to the banks, some paddling upstream, some propelled by wheels worked with a treadle like a sewing machine. Barges lay alongside the banks, loading up with wheat; steamers pulled in by the wood piles … Boat life and tent life seemed the manner of the country. The brown, strong women of the camps washed and cooked in booths of boughs or scrim ... It was evident that, outside the fringe of regular settlement, a scattered, moving population was getting a living from the Murray. There were fishermen, traders, wood cutters, bush workers, loafers - all manner of folks - among whom an Anglican mission steamer (the ‘Etona’) was ministering.

While some families may have settled in the region's new towns of the 1920s and some single men taken up land, deepening recession and the general depression of the 1930s meant that for many this life remained the only - if not the preferred - alternative.

Brady also commented on another distinctive riverlands population, the German farming families who had pioneered wheat farming in the Loxton's hut district, whose efforts by 1908 were reaping a reward in a series of substantial stone homesteads and large and prosperous farms.

We lay below Renmark by the home of a German settler. The house - typical of the lower Murray, where a Teutonic population preserves many traits of the Fatherland - was built of grey freestone. The sheds and cowbails were of stone, with thatched roofs. Huge chimneys and great fireplaces told of bitter winters. They are excellent colonists, these Germans, good citizens, and good agriculturists, and they have converted the sheepwalks between Renmark and Morgan - which were look–ed upon a few years ago as half desert - into productive wheat lands. From this point onward we passed the grey stone houses of German farmers at every few miles.

The town of Loxton was surveyed-in 1907. As it incorporated some of the land and the fine stone homesteads of those very farmers, they were the community's main support. Some of their original houses remain, as well as the building which was the St. Petri Lutheran Church.
 Loxton was unique amongst the new upper Murray towns in that it was established to serve a large existing agricultural area which was predominantly wheat-growing and sheep-grazing rather than based upon irrigation, and with a population drawn mainly from German farming communities from the older settled areas of the State. (However, two small irrigation areas were established near Loxton at Media in 1918 and Sherwood, 1921.)

Interest in the new town was keen, with prices as high as:640 being paid for the first allotments sold. East Avenue, at right angles to the river, was from the start the commercial centre, with its ubiquitous A.H. Landseer and Co. store, which ‘practically kept Loxton alive in the beginning by supplying the settlers with their needs from time to time ... Mr. Landseer was ... by far too faithful to his customers, always out to do good and help them in their struggle to make good.’

The Institute was built in East Avenue and the first bank was opened there in 1908. Within three years the District Council of Loxton was proclaimed (1910), with offices at the Loxton Institute building.

The town’s fortunes reflected those of its farmers, in turn battling vermin, sand drift, low river and falling prices. Its security was reinforced in 1914 by the connection with the railway and the establishment of a water scheme - in the year the mighty Murray fell to a trickle of water.

The extension of the railway to the upper Murray via Tailem Bend to Paringa in 1913 was in line with Government policy on agricultural development, and signalled the changes under way as a result of its upper Murray irrigation schemes. In 1906 Sam McIntosh was asked by the Government to report on areas along the Murray suitable for development (interstate rivalry was also involved as irrigation was well under way in N.S.W. and Victoria). He recommended what are now several divisions of the Cobdogla Irrigation Area, the Berri and Chaffey areas and extensions to Waikerie and Ramco.

The first scheme was started at the old village settlements, when in 1908, the settlers at Waikerie and Ramco requested Government assistance to replace obsolete pumping equipment. The Government granted the request and enlarged the irrigation area, combining Waikerie and Ramco, so that the fullest use would be made of the new pumping equipment. ‘The immediate results were encouraging, and, as in the case of the swamp areas downstream, enthusiasm ran high.’
 The first new blocks were allotted in 1910; this was made the Waikerie Irrigation Area in 1912 and extensions were made in 1918 and 1929 to include part of Holder, which was repurchased by the Government.

When a travelling salesman, Norman Jaffrey, visited Waikerie in 1909, ‘all that could be seen was a scrub road about 8 feet wide through the town to be. They were then building the channels for the irrigation settlement, which was only a few mud huts here and there’. He noted the arrival of Landseer’s Store as a Godsend.

After 1911 the place started to boom. Stores of every kind seemed to spring up almost overnight. Every acre for miles around seemed to be planted and after a few years Waikerie was a well established town, with a Post Office and a hotel ...’
Next, 200 acres were acquired at Berri (or Beri Beri as it was first known) in 1909 for the establishment of a completely new irrigation scheme. In 1911 the first blocks were allotted and the town of Berri was proclaimed.

Berri began to grow by leaps and bounds. There were carpenters by the score building shops and dwellings by day and night. Land sales were held and properties were selling fast. Hundreds of men were employed on the irrigation channels all over Berri ...

Survey of the Cobdogla area started in 1911, the first allotments being made to civilian settlers in 1918, followed by soldier settlers up to 1922 in the Nookampa and Loveday divisions. The Government also took over the run-down village settlement sites of Moorook, Kingston, Holder and New Era, which was renamed Cadell in 1916. Survey parties throughout the area had their headquarters at Cobdogla. At Mypolonga, following the construction of headworks for the irrigation of highland, allotments were made during 1914 and 1915.

At the same time, private irrigation schemes were developed, notably at another of the village settlement sites, Pyap. Pyap had been sold by the Government to a Melbourne syndicate and was then bought by C.J. De Garis in 1913, who also had a concern at Mildura. Under his manager's direction, the estate was replanted, extended and a permanent settlement established, which, by 1921 (when it was sold again) included 11 stone and brick dwellings, a large manager's house, a general purpose hall and store. These houses were let to married employees at a rent equal to 8% on actual cost, ‘with a reduction according to the quality of garden improvements and home comforts added by the occupier, with a guarantee against any increase of rent during occupancy’ and a .i3/3 bonus for each addition to the family.
 (This was one way to increase the population of the upper Murray!).

Activity was concentrated around the great loop of the river, between Overland Corner and Renmark, and this remained the focus after the Soldier Settlement Act of 1919, when the Government further extended its irrigation schemes to accommodate returning soldiers. These areas included Cobdogla, Cadell, the Ral Ral Division of the Chaffey Irrigation Area (near Renmark), part of Holder (near Waikerie) and the extension of the Berri and Moorook Areas, totalling about 10,600 acres of allotable land, as well as Block E at Renmark and a small area at Lyrup. Trainee blockers were sent out to clear the scrub and plant fruit trees, the big influx occurring after 1920.

Barmera, then known as South Lake (situated on Lake Bonney) was the centre of the Cobdogla area, and was surveyed as a town in 1920, as the last of the towns which owed its existence to the repatriation of soldiers to new irrigation blocks. Once settled, all the young soldier-settlers married at about the same time and the influence of the women and young families brought about the inevitable shops and social facilities. There was a further influx in the mid 1920s from Cadell and Moorook, where a number of holdings had to be abandoned because of increasing salinity or unsuitable soils.

The Government had intended that Barmera become the ‘Garden City of the Murray’ and its imaginative town planner, Charles Reade, provided a spacious and elegant design for what was planned to be the largest irrigation settlement in the State.

Charles Reade intended his centre to be an imaginative place with a view: he put in two-laned avenues, spacious allotments and many public-purpose reserves. A whole zone was set aside for public buildings. He enhanced it with graceful crescents, curving terraces and numerous parklands. He allowed for almost unlimited expansion on the slope facing the lake by producing his plan around to the north east: it was completed on 8 November 1920 ...

(During the rush to develop the town) in the process the public centre between the school and the hospital was scrapped and Barmera Crescent disappeared. The Irrigation Dept, also used land where convenient. Curved residential streets were squared, as were corners. As time went on various bodies had streets changed, narrowed, opened or closed. Langdon Terrace, for example, no longer swept from one end of the town to the other.

All of the settlers, after the slow process of clearing the land with horses and the construction of the open channels, faced the problems of isolation, too-small blocks, frost, flood, rising salt. Then, worst of all they faced the problem of low prices through overproduction as a direct result of the optimistic over-expansion by the Government of its irrigation schemes. In 1923, the year it reached the peak of its activity, soldier settlement ceased as the costs involved far exceeded the original estimates. Losses on the schemes were in excess of £3,000,000 by 1925. By then, with most of the orchards and vineyards coming into production, local markets for dried fruits were saturated and overseas prices for most primary produce were plummeting. The Government decided to develop further areas only in special circumstances, and the acreage of irrigation crops barely rose from 1925 to 1946. The towns, however, continued to develop, assisted by the extension of the railway in the late 1920s, with impressive railway bridges being constructed, both at Murray Bridge (1925) and at Paringa (1927). (In 1926 Tailem Bend gained at the expense of Murray Bridge when the railway workshops were shifted from one town to the other, together with about 300 railway workers, for whom rows and rows of starkly similar railways cottages were constructed, grafted onto the straggling quiet country township that had typified the older Tailem Bend.)

By 1924 1,068 settlers, including 587 returned soldiers, had been placed in the upper Murray and 241, including 56 returned soldiers in the lower Murray. On the lakes (Narrung Peninsula), Narrung was surveyed and gazetted as a town in 1907 and the ‘Narrung Estate’, repurchased by the Government and surveyed for closer settlement, created another small influx of new farmers. The Government also took over administration of the Point McLeay Mission in 1916, which marked a further stage in the decline of the Ngarrindjeri.

Apart from its direct involvement in swamp reclamation and irrigation and the settlement of the blocks, the Government's action on the provision of Murray waters by agreement with the other States, and the locking of the river, was of major significance.

The seasonal irregularity of river flow was a menace to both paddlesteamers and irrigationists, and as far back as 1863 representatives of the three colonies concerned met in Melbourne and passed resolutions in favour of locking and conservation. It was not until the 1880s, with the rise of irrigation settlements, that the problem of the division of waters amongst the colonies on an equitable basis began to assume importance, and intercolonial agreement was recognised as essential. But agreement was bedevilled by the usual jealousies, focussed on the rival claims between irrigation and navigation, which was emphasised by South Australia partly as this was its one right to the river which was acknowledged by N.S.W. and Victoria.

Finally, interstate negotiations culminated in a comprehensive report, its proposals being included in the River Murray Waters Agreement of 1914. Its recommendations included the construction of a storage on the upper Murray (the Hume Reservoir, 1936) the use of Lake Victoria as a storage basin and the construction of a series of weirs and locks from Blanchetown in South Australia to Echuca in Victoria, to assist navigation over that section of the river.

The Agreement was incorporated 'in an Act of 1915 passed by the Parliaments of the three States and the Commonwealth and the appointment of the River Murray Commission. Work started immediately on the construction of the first lock and weir near Blanchetown, using crushed granite from a quarry near Mannum. Blanchetown is regarded as the head of the deep water of the river and it was chosen for this reason, amongst others, as the site for lock 1. Nine weirs and locks were constructed by the South Australian Government between Blanchetown and Wentworth (N.S.W.), of which six were built in South Australia, as follows:

No. 1
(William Randell lock), installed 1915-22 (D.C. Truro);

No. 2
near Waikerie, 1923-28 (D.C. Waikerie);

No. 3
near Overland Corner, 1920-25 (D.C. Barmera);

No. 4
near Loxton, 1926-29 (D.C. Loxton);

No. 5
near Renmark, 1922-27 (D.C. Paringa);
No. 6
(Simpson Newland lock), near the Victorian border, 1927-30 (Unincorporated).

The construction of the weirs and locks, all of which are of Boule type, was a massive undertaking involving hundreds of men, boats and  barges shifting tons of material. This and the concurrent development of  the irrigation areas, provided in the 1920s a last boom in navigation, which, in turn stimulated activity at the old river ports such as Mannum and Morgan.

Virtually all activity ceased during the 1930s (though the ‘Gem’ and the ‘Marion’ remained popular as passenger vessels), but the construction of the barrages at the Murray Mouth provided between 1935 and 1940 a further source of employment for men and boats.

Large diversions of water for irrigation along the upper Murray soon had a noticeable effect on the lower Murray and the areas beside Lake Alexandrina and Lake Albert. In 1930 a conference with representatives of the four contracting Governments resolved that the River Murray Commission report upon ‘the advisability of the construction of works … to protect the Lower Murray against salinity, which, in turn, recommended the construction of five barrages across the channels leading from the lakes to the Murray mouth. An agreement ratified by each parliament in 1934 also provided for the construction of the Yarrawonga weir on the upper Murray in N.S.W./Victoria.

Plant and materials were transferred from the locks upriver to Goolwa i. 1934, and construction on the Murray mouth barrages was started in 1935 by the Engineering and Water Supply Department. This massive engineering project spans the Goolwa, Mundoo, Boundary Creek, Ewe Island and Tauwitchere Channels, each structure, with its stop-logs and gates, designed to suit their particular foundation conditions and to withstand pressure from both sides, tidal sea-water and the freshwater in the lakes. The whole system was completed by 1940 at a cost slightly less than the estimate of £750,000.
 (D.C.s :Port Elliot and Goolwa, and Meningie).

1941-present: the river as life-line for the State

The overlanders, the steamboat men and the pioneer settlers laboured mightily to create a great romantic tradition. So recently did they play their part that some are with us still.

Now a new breed has come to the river - man at leisure. The Murray is playground ..., fishing spot, shack site, ski-run, scenic wonderland ... Each devotee sees the river differently from the other.

But that is not new. (The Aborigines) looked at the river and saw fish, game and a sacred provider; at the gums and saw canoe, shield or coolamon; at the cliffs and saw clays and ochre .., caves and clefts for shelter.

(The Europeans) regarded the Murray as water for crops and stock, a great transport highway; the gums as fence posts, boats, stockyards, firewood; the cliffs as quarries for home, road, levee and lock building ... (They) drowned the swamp lands with locks and dams ...took the wetlands to crop and raise cattle ... (and) dirtied the river with ... drains.

Today its water has never been more precious nor the burden it carries so great.

Today, the River Murray carries almost the entire population of South Australia – and its future development – on its back. For, with the completion of the Morgan-Whyalla pipeline in 1944 (Pumphouse, D.C. Morgan) and the Mannum-Adelaide pipeline in 1955, and pipelines to many country districts huge areas of the State including metro​politan Adelaide, became dependent on an assured water supply drawn from the river. By 1958 it was reported that water pumped from the Murray for rural, domestic, industrial and commercial purposes could be supplied to 6,000 miles of the State's 8,000 miles of water mains and that 90% of the population depended wholly or partly upon Murray water for their livelihood and well-being.

At the same time, the Government embarked once again upon major new irrigation schemes as a means of soldier settlement following the Second World War. All of the earlier irrigation areas were expanded, but by far the largest scheme was entirely new. This was at Loxton where, during the war, some local men proposed irrigation as a repatriation venture. Between 1946 and 1948 the scheme was developed with State and Commonwealth Government support: 257 blocks were granted to ex-servicemen, the first in 1948:

The trials of the first ‘blockers’ were surpassed only by the first settlers’ pioneering – they lived for years in ex-Army Nissen huts while waging a daylight to dark war against dust and weeds that threatened to choke young trees and vines. Lack of money made the usual problem.

Young mouths had to be fed – population growth was lusty in those first post-war years – and so most families availed themselves of Government living aid. As trees and vines matured dust problems lessened, but men who had been butchers, bakers and candlestick makers now had to become horticultural specialists.

To begin with it was expected that fruits like apricots, rather than citrus, would be the mainstay, so the first tree planted was a Moorpark apricot in the north sector of the 8,000 acre area. The tree survives, with its attendant memorial, (D.C. Loxton) as a symbol of the dramatic transformation of landscape and town from a marginal wheat farming community to one of the largest irrigated deciduous, citrus and vine areas along the entire Murray. Loxton’s Irrigation areas confirmed the role of irrigation as the basis of the riverland economy in all three States. By 1945 half the value of primary production in the Murray Valley was attributable to irrigation products; 55% of Australia's vineyards and 37% of its orchards were located there.

Murray Valley Development League, established in Yarrawonga {Victoria) in 1944 symbolised the role irrigation had played in both the riverland's economic and social development.

As the old steamers plying to and fro tended to bring people on the river banks a sense of far-flung neighbourhood, so the practice of irrigation on the margins gave them something in common.

Loxton’s blockers were not the only individuals who lived in Army huts and halls: two distinctive new settlements were created in riverland during and just after the war which were similarly housed.
Near Barmera the only Prisoner of War camp in South Australia and one Australia's major internment camps were established, known collectively as Loveday Internment Group (D.C. Barmera). The major of the group was situated within the vicinity of Loveday, with three separate compounds for British and Australian Government Civilian Internees from several parts of the world. Compound 9 housed about 800 Italians, Compound 10 a mixture of 900 Italians, Germans and Russians and Compound 14, divided into four sections for 1,000 internees each from within Australia. Woodcutters' Camps were established for Italian POWs at Gerard and for Japanese internees at Woolnook.

By mid 1943 there were 5,382 inmates supervised by 1,374 Army personnel. Near the main camps (General Headquarters was beside the Loveday Hall, which remains in community use), 40 acres were put into bearing and more than £100,000 was earned by war-time products.
 The Group was closed in 1946 and its sleeping huts, mess halls and other buildings were auctioned and spread throughout the district.

Some materials were purchased or buildings actually relocated for use at the Gerard Mission, which was established in 1945 in what, during the War, had been used as an Italian POW Woodcutters Camp. The settlement was a successor to an earlier one at Swan Reach and another at Ooldea in northern South Australia.

The impact of soldier settlement and new agricultural techniques on the lower Murray was in its own way as dramatic as in the Loxton district. Large areas of the Narrung Peninsula were resumed for soldier settlers, who started dairy farming and fat lamb production, and the ‘desert’ beyond Meningie was also opened up. Some of the large old pastoral estates were broken up (‘Poltalloch’ was divided between three daughters and part sold) but on the whole the traditional ‘squattocracy’ survived relatively intact.

Meningie and Narrung townships were given renewed stimulus. Meningie’s ‘sleepy hollow’ air is apparent from this description of the town in the 1940s.

On arrival in Meningie the new settler was struck by the sleepiness of the town. It consisted of a general store, a butcher, baker ... two storey Hotel, as well as a jumble of uninviting houses. The most striking observation in the town was the large swamp areas around the houses, in some cases right outside the back door.

... The most amazing sight was the unmade Princes Highway in the middle of the town along which Meningie stretched, and which in winter time looked like a string of swimming pools ...

After leaving the town the settler entered the sea of mallee scrub which stretched as far as the eye could see ...

In the 1950s farmers and pastoralists prospered from the nationwide wool and wheat booms, which financed a large number of improvements on rural properties. In some cases, of course, this also meant the destruction of heritage buildings, but far greater damage was wrought by the massive 1956 flood, which was the greatest and most severe on record. Six metres above normal river level was measured at Morgan. Dramatic but largely unavailing efforts were made to avert flood damage in the towns and farmlands along the river, which were flood bound for several months. Renmark suffered the floods impact first and at least a third of the total Relief Fund was later given to Renmark.

The battles with sandbags, the drowned streets and pastures, the sheer scale of the flood, remains the single most vivid event in the riverland's history recalled today by its residents and even the most venerable of its buildings (such as the Overland Corner Hotel) bear water marks which testify to the event.

The history of the region since the 1950s reflects both the benefits and the penalties of closer settlement, increasing urbanisation, rising population and faster communications. Murray Bridge, in particular, has in recent years experienced the fastest growth rate of any country town in South Australia and it is steadily expanding with the addition of new subdivisions.

Changes in transport are reflected by the substitution of new ferries for old at several points along the river (a series of new ferries having been earlier provided at places like Kingston and Tailem Bend in the 1920s) and, more significantly, by the construction of the first road bridges across the Murray since the Murray Bridge was built. These great sweeping concrete structures were built at Blanchetown in 1964,at Kingston in 1973 and at Swanport in 1979, the Swanport Bridge serving the Hills freeway which connects with Adelaide.

These three bridges are the most recent items noted for their .heritage significance. It is perhaps fitting that they should be engineering structures, which, like steamboat boilers, irrigation water supply pumps, locks and weirs and barrages, have played such a significant role in the history of the riverlands since the aid nineteenth century.
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